PUBLISHED BY INSTITUTE OF PHYSICS PUBLISHING FOR SISSA

RECEIVED: May 1, 2007 REVISED: August 27, 2007 ACCEPTED: September 3, 2007 PUBLISHED: September 10, 2007

Some impacts of Lorentz violation on cosmology

Arianto,^{ab} Freddy P. Zen,^a Bobby E. Gunara,^a Triyanta^a and Supardi^{ac}

^a Theoretical Physics Laboratory, THEPI, Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, Institut Teknologi Bandung, Jl. Ganesha 10 Bandung 40132, Indonesia
^b Department of Physics, Udayana University, Jl. Kampus Bukit Jimbaran Kuta-Bali 80361, Indonesia
^c Department of Physics, Sriwijaya University, Jl. Raya Palembang, Prabumulih-Inderalaya, Indonesia
E-mail: feranie@upi.edu, fpzen@fi.itb.ac.id, bobby@fi.itb.ac.id, supardi_unsri@student.fi.itb.ac.id

ABSTRACT: The impact of Lorentz violation on the dynamics of a scalar field is investigated. In particular, we study the dynamics of a scalar field in the scalar-vector-tensor theory where the vector field is constrained to be unity and time like. By taking a generic form of the scalar field action, a generalized dynamical equation for the scalar-vector-tensor theory of gravity is obtained to describe the cosmological solutions. We present a class of exact solutions for an ordinary scalar field or phantom field corresponding to a power law coupling vector and the Hubble parameter. As the results, we find a constant equation of state in de Sitter space-time and power law expansion with the quadratic of coupling vector, while a dynamic equation of state is obtained for n > 2. Then, we consider the inflationary scenario based on the Lorentz violating scalar-vector-tensor theory of gravity with general power-law coupling vector and two typical potentials: inverse power-law and power-law potentials. In fact, both the coupling vector and the potential models affect the dynamics of the inflationary solutions. Finally, we use the dynamical system formalism to study the attractor behavior of a cosmological model containing a scalar field endowed with a quadratic coupling vector and a chaotic potential.

KEYWORDS: Cosmology of Theories beyond the SM, Classical Theories of Gravity.



Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	General formalism	3
3.	Dynamical equations for scalar fields	6
	3.1 Exact solutions and the behavior of scalar fields	7
	3.2 Variable equation of states	9
4.	Lorentz violating inflation scenario	10
	4.1 Inverse power law potential: $V(\phi) = \mu^{4+\nu} \phi^{-\nu}$	11
	4.1.1 Lorentz violating stage	11
	4.1.2 Standard slow roll stage	13
	4.2 Power law potential: $V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}M^2\phi^2$	14
	4.2.1 Lorentz violating stage	14
	4.2.2 Standard slow roll stage	16
5.	Phase-space analysis	17
6.	Conclusions	20

1. Introduction

Scalar field theory has become the generic playground for building cosmological models related to particle physics, in particular for obtaining inflationary cosmologies which is one of the most reliable concepts to describe the early stage of the universe. The key property of the laws of physics that makes inflation possible is the existence of states of matter that have a high energy density which cannot be rapidly lowered. The Inflationary scenario [1] relies on the potential energy of a scalar (inflaton) field to drive a period of early universe acceleration. It has been thought that the early universe could be well characterized by a series of phase transitions, in which topological defects could be formed [2]. In the context of the string theory, the natural values of the gauge and gravitational couplings in our 4d universe are explained by the dynamics of 'moduli' scalar fields [3, 4]. Moreover, originating from the work of Sen [5] (see also [6]), the possibility of the tachyon field being a candidate for the inflaton has been extensively studied. The tachyon action is of the Dirac Born Infeld form [7] which leads to an equation of state interpolating between -1 at early times and 0 at late-times. This suggests the possibility that the tachyon can play the role of the inflaton at early times and the dark matter at late-times. Serious difficulties, however,

plagues the tachyonic inflation [8]. These include large density perturbations, problem with reheating and formation of caustics.

Recent observational evidences especially from the Type Ia Supernovae [9, 10] and WMAP satellite missions [11], indicate that we live in a favored spatially flat universe consisting approximately of 30% dark matter and 70% dark energy. In the framework of the General Relativity this means that about two thirds of the total energy density of the Universe consists of dark energy, the still unknown component with a relativistic negative pressure $p < -\rho/3$. The simplest candidate for dark energy is the cosmological A-term. During the cosmological evolution the Λ -term component has the constant (Lorentz invariant) energy density ρ and pressure $p = -\rho$. However, it has got the famous and serious fine-tuning problem, while the also elusive dark matter candidate might be a lightest and neutral supersymmetry particle with only gravity interaction. For this reason the different forms of dynamically changing dark energy with an effective equation of state w < -1/3 were proposed, instead of the constant vacuum energy density. As a particular example of dark energy, the scalar field with a slow rolling potential (quintessence) [12] is often considered. The possible generalization of quintessence is a k-essence [13], the scalar field with a non-canonical Lagrangian. Any such behavior would have far-reaching implications for particle physics. However, recent theory of gravity with the Lorentz violation are proposed. The cosmological feature of the Lorentz violation are nowadays being investigated even more than particle physics consequences and to the major problems recent astrophysical data have revealed: the presence of high energy cosmic rays about the Greisen-Zatsepin-Kuzmin cutoff [14-16], the dark matter and the dark energy problem, the inflation, the baryogenesis, cosmic rays, and so on [17-19]. This may suggests the Lorentz violation [20, 21]. Theoretically, any quantum theory of gravity requires drastic modification of the picture of space-time at the Planck scale [22, 23].

More recently, authors in ref. [24] explored the Lorentz violating scenario in the context of the scalar-vector-tensor theory. They showed that the Lorentz violating vector affects the dynamics of the inflationary model. One of the interesting features of this scenario, is that the exact Lorentz violating inflationary solutions are related to the absence of the inflaton potential. In this case, the inflation is completely associated with the Lorentz violation. Depending on the value of the coupling parameter, the three kind of exact solutions are found: the power law inflation, de Sitter inflation, and the super-inflation. Moreover, the spontaneous breaking of Lorentz symmetry due to a vector field [23, 25-27]has a wide parameter region where all of current experiments and observations can be explained [28-32].

The purpose of this paper is to study the dynamics of a scalar field in the framework of Lorentz violating scalar-vector-tensor model, taking into account the effect of the dynamically coupling vector. In this framework, we explore a class of exact solutions such as evolution of a scalar field and equation of state parameters. We discuss an inflationary scenario with a power-law coupling vector model with two typical potentials: an inverse power-law potential and a power-law potential. Then, we show that it is possible to find attractor solutions in the Lorentz violating scalar-vector-tensor model in which both the coupling function and the potential function are specified. The organization of this paper is the following: in section 2, we set down the general formalism for the scalar-vector-tensor theory where the Lorentz symmetry is spontaneously broken due to the unit-norm vector field. In section 3, we use our formalism to find an exact solution of the equation of state. In section 4, we study Lorentz violating (inverse) power law inflation. In section 5, the critical points of the global system and their stability are presented. The final section is devoted to the conclusions.

2. General formalism

In the present section, we develop the general reconstruction scheme for the scalar-vectortensor theory. We will consider the properties of general four-dimensional universe, i.e. the universe where the four-dimensional space-time is allowed to contain any non-gravitational degree of freedom in the framework of Lorentz violating scalar-tensor-vector theory of gravity. Let us assume that there exists the Lorentz symmetry but it is spontaneously broken by getting the expectation values of a vector field u^{μ} as $< 0|u^{\mu}u_{\mu}|0> = -1$. The action can be written as the sum of three distinct parts:

$$S = S_q + S_u + S_\phi \,, \tag{2.1}$$

where the actions for the tensor field S_g , the vector field S_u , and the scalar field S_{ϕ} are,

$$S_g = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \, \frac{1}{16\pi G} R \,, \tag{2.2}$$

$$S_{u} = \int d^{4}x \sqrt{-g} \left[-\beta_{1} \nabla^{\mu} u^{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} u_{\nu} - \beta_{2} \nabla^{\mu} u^{\nu} \nabla_{\nu} u_{\mu} - \beta_{3} (\nabla_{\mu} u^{\mu})^{2} -\beta_{4} u^{\mu} u^{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} u^{\alpha} \nabla_{\nu} u_{\alpha} + \lambda (u^{\mu} u_{\mu} + 1) \right], \qquad (2.3)$$

$$S_{\phi} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \,\mathcal{L}_{\phi} \,. \tag{2.4}$$

In the above $\beta_i(\phi)$ (i = 1, 2, 3, 4) are arbitrary parameters and \mathcal{L}_{ϕ} is the Lagrangian density for scalar field, expressed as a function of the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ and the scalar field ϕ . Then, the action (2.1) describes the scalar-tensor-vector theory of gravity. Here we have taken into account the expectation value by just adopting it as a constraint

$$u^{\mu}u_{\mu} = -1. \tag{2.5}$$

We take u^{μ} as the dimensionless vector, and accordingly β_i has the dimension of mass squared. In other words, $\sqrt{\beta_i}$ gives the mass scale of symmetry breakdown. In principle, the preferred frame determined by the vector u^{μ} differs from the CMB rest frame. Note that the alignment of these frames had been achieved during the cosmic expansion as is explained in the appendix of ref. [24]. In this setup, the preferred frame is selected through the constrained vector field u^{μ} and this leads to the violate Lorentz symmetry.

For the background solutions, we use the homogeneity and isotropy of the universe spacetime

$$ds^2 = -\mathcal{N}^2(t)dt^2 + e^{2\alpha(t)}\delta_{ij}dx^i dx^j, \qquad (2.6)$$

where \mathcal{N} is a lapse function. The scale of the universe is determined by α . We take the constraint

$$u^{\mu} = \left(\frac{1}{\mathcal{N}}, 0, 0, 0\right) ,$$
 (2.7)

where $\mathcal{N} = 1$ is taken into account after the variation. Varying the action (2.1) with respect to $g^{\mu\nu}$, we have field equations

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = 8\pi G T_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (2.8)$$

where $T_{\mu\nu} = T_{\mu\nu}^{(u)} + T_{\mu\nu}^{(\phi)}$ is the total energy-momentum tensor, $T_{\mu\nu}^{(u)}$ and $T_{\mu\nu}^{(\phi)}$ are the energy-momentum tensors of vector and scalar fields, respectively, defined by the usual formulae

$$T^{(k)}_{\mu\nu} = -2\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}^{(k)}}{\partial g^{\mu\nu}} + g_{\mu\nu}\mathcal{L}^{(k)}, \qquad k = u, \phi .$$

$$(2.9)$$

The time and space components of the total energy-momentum tensor are given by

$$T_0^0 = -\rho_u - \rho_\phi, \qquad T_i^i = p_u + p_\phi,$$
 (2.10)

where the energy density and pressure of the vector field are given by

$$\rho_u = -3\beta H^2, \tag{2.11}$$

$$p_u = \left(3 + 2\frac{H'}{H} + 2\frac{\beta'}{\beta}\right)\beta H^2, \qquad (2.12)$$

$$\beta \equiv \beta_1 + 3\beta_2 + \beta_3 . \tag{2.13}$$

Note that β_4 does not contribute to the background dynamics. A prime denotes the derivative of any quantities X with respect to α . X' is then related to its derivative with respect to t by $X' = (dX/dt)H^{-1} = \dot{X}H^{-1}$ where $H = d\alpha/dt = \dot{\alpha}$ is the Hubble parameter. From eqs. (2.11) and (2.12), one obtains the energy equation for the vector field u

$$\rho'_{u} + 3(\rho_{u} + p_{u}) = +3H^{2}\beta', \qquad (2.14)$$

and for the scalar field

$$\rho'_{\phi} + 3(\rho_{\phi} + p_{\phi}) = -3H^2\beta' . \qquad (2.15)$$

The total energy equation in the presence of both the vector and the scalar fields is, accordingly,

$$\rho' + 3(\rho + p) = 0, \quad (\rho = \rho_u + \rho_\phi).$$
 (2.16)

This energy conservation equation can also be obtained by equating the covariant divergence of the total energy-momentum tensor to zero, since the covariant divergence of the Einstein tensor is zero by its geometric construction. It follows from contraction of the geometric Bianchi identity. Substituting eq. (2.10) into the Einstein equations (2.8), we obtain two independent equations, called the Friedmann equations, as follows:

$$-3H^2 = 8\pi G \left(3\beta H^2 - \rho_\phi \right) \,, \tag{2.17}$$

$$-2HH' - 3H^2 = 8\pi G \left[\left(3 + 2\frac{H'}{H} + 2\frac{\beta'}{\beta} \right) \beta H^2 + p_\phi \right] .$$
 (2.18)

These Friedmann equations can be rewritten as

$$\left(1 + \frac{1}{8\pi G\beta}\right)H^2 = \frac{1}{3\beta}\rho_\phi\,,\tag{2.19}$$

$$\left(1 + \frac{1}{8\pi G\beta}\right)\left(HH' + H^2\right) = -\frac{1}{6}\left(\frac{\rho_{\phi}}{\beta} + \frac{3p_{\phi}}{\beta}\right) - H^2\frac{\beta'}{\beta}.$$
(2.20)

The second term on r.h.s. of eq. (2.20) is a consequence of the coupling vector field as a function of scalar field. If $\beta_i = 0$, thus without the vector field, the above equations reduce to the conventional ones. And in the case $\beta = const.$, the above equations are lead to the Friedmann equations given in ref. [18].

Using eqs. (2.19) and (2.15), we obtain a set of equations as follows:

$$\frac{H'}{H} + \frac{\bar{\beta}'}{\bar{\beta}} + \frac{3}{2}(1 + \omega_{\phi}) = 0, \qquad (2.21)$$

$$\frac{H'}{H} - \frac{\rho'_{\phi}}{\rho_{\phi}} - \frac{3}{2}(1 + \omega_{\phi}) = 0, \qquad (2.22)$$

$$\frac{\rho'_{\phi}}{\rho_{\phi}} + \frac{\bar{\beta}'}{\bar{\beta}} + 3(1 + \omega_{\phi}) = 0, \qquad (2.23)$$

where

$$\bar{\beta} = \beta + \frac{1}{8\pi G}, \qquad (2.24)$$

and $\omega_{\phi} = p_{\phi}/\rho_{\phi}$ is the equation of state of the scalar field. It is easy to check that the equations (2.21)–(2.23) satisfy the following constraint

$$2\frac{H'}{H} + \frac{\bar{\beta}'}{\bar{\beta}} - \frac{\rho_{\phi}'}{\rho_{\phi}} = 0 . \qquad (2.25)$$

In order to solve the eqs. (2.21)–(2.23) and (2.25), we have to specify the model and the matter content of the universe. The general solution of these equations can be written as

$$H\bar{\beta} \propto \exp\left[-\int \frac{3}{2}(1+\omega_{\phi}(\alpha))d\alpha\right],$$
 (2.26)

$$\frac{H}{\rho_{\phi}} \propto \exp\left[\int \frac{3}{2}(1+\omega_{\phi}(\alpha))d\alpha\right], \qquad (2.27)$$

$$\rho_{\phi}\bar{\beta} \propto \exp\left[-\int 3(1+\omega_{\phi}(\alpha))d\alpha\right] .$$
(2.28)

If the functions ω_{ϕ} and $\bar{\beta}$ are given, then we can find the evolution of the Hubble parameter under the Lorentz violation. For example, the cosmological constant corresponds to a fluid with a constant equation of state $\omega_{\phi} = -1$. Thus the above equations reduce to: $H\bar{\beta} \propto 1$, $H \propto \rho_{\phi}$ and $\rho_{\phi}\bar{\beta} \propto 1$ where H, ρ_{ϕ} and β are functions of α . If ω_{ϕ} is a constant parameter of a simple one component fluid, and for a given $\alpha(t)$, eqs. (2.21)–(2.23) can be used to determine $\beta(\alpha)$ and $\rho_{\phi}(\alpha)$. We, then, are able to determine the potential of the Lorentz violation model.

3. Dynamical equations for scalar fields

For a given scalar field Lagrangian with the FRW background, we can obtain the equations of motion for a scalar field by using eq. (2.15) and eqs. (2.21)–(2.23). Let us consider the Lagrangian density of a scalar field ϕ with a potential $V(\phi)$ in eq. (2.1):

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi} = -\frac{\eta}{2} (\nabla \phi)^2 - V(\phi) , \qquad (3.1)$$

where $(\nabla \phi)^2 = g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi$. Ordinary scalar fields correspond to $\eta = 1$ while $\eta = -1$ is for phantoms. For the homogeneous field the density ρ_{ϕ} and pressure p_{ϕ} of the scalar field, may be found as follows

$$\rho_{\phi} = \frac{\eta}{2} H^2 \phi'^2 + V(\phi) \,, \tag{3.2}$$

$$p_{\phi} = \frac{\eta}{2} H^2 \phi'^2 - V(\phi) . \qquad (3.3)$$

The corresponding equation of state parameter is, accordingly

$$\omega_{\phi} = \frac{p_{\phi}}{\rho_{\phi}} = -\frac{1 - \eta H^2 \phi'^2 / 2V}{1 + \eta H^2 \phi'^2 / 2V} . \tag{3.4}$$

Substituting eq. (3.2) into eq. (2.19), the Friedmann equation leads to

$$H^{2} = \frac{1}{3\bar{\beta}} \left[\frac{\eta}{2} H^{2} \phi'^{2} + V(\phi) \right] .$$
 (3.5)

Now, differentiating eq. (3.2) with respect to α and using eq. (2.15), and also differentiating eq. (3.5) with respect to α and using eq. (3.6) give, respectively,

$$\phi'' = -\left(\frac{H'}{H} + 3\right)\phi' - \eta \frac{V_{,\phi}}{H^2} - 3\eta \bar{\beta}_{,\phi}, \qquad (3.6)$$

$$\phi' = -2\eta \bar{\beta} \left(\frac{H_{,\phi}}{H} + \frac{\beta_{,\phi}}{\bar{\beta}} \right) . \tag{3.7}$$

Substituting eq. (3.7) into the Friedmann equation the potential of the scalar field can be written as

$$V = 3\bar{\beta}H^2 \left[1 - \frac{2}{3}\eta\bar{\beta} \left(\frac{\bar{\beta}_{,\phi}}{\bar{\beta}} + \frac{H_{,\phi}}{H} \right)^2 \right] .$$
(3.8)

Note that in the above equations the Hubble parameter H has been expressed as a function of ϕ , $H = H(\phi(t))$. From eq. (2.21), the equation of state can be written as

$$\omega_{\phi} = -1 + \frac{4}{3} \eta \bar{\beta} \left(\frac{H_{,\phi}}{H} + \frac{\bar{\beta}_{,\phi}}{\bar{\beta}} \right)^2$$
$$= -1 + \frac{1}{3} \eta \frac{\phi'^2}{\bar{\beta}} . \tag{3.9}$$

Equations (3.7) and (3.9) are two equations that we need to solve for the scalar field ϕ and the equation of state ω_{ϕ} . This is achieved only if the Hubble parameter $H(\phi)$ and the coupling vector $\bar{\beta}(\phi)$ are known. For different choice of the Hubble parameter $H(\phi)$ and the coupling vector $\bar{\beta}(\phi)$, it is possible to extract a class of exact solutions of eqs. (3.7) and (3.9). We shall solve eqs. (3.7) and (3.9) to obtain the following physical quantities (Vand K are the potential and kinetic energies, respectively):

$$V = \frac{3}{2}(1 - \omega_{\phi})\bar{\beta}H^{2}, \quad K = \frac{3}{2}(1 + \omega_{\phi})\bar{\beta}H^{2},$$

$$\rho_{\phi} = 3\bar{\beta}H^{2}, \qquad p_{\phi} = 3\omega_{\phi}\bar{\beta}H^{2}. \quad (3.10)$$

In the following two subsections we will explore a class of exact solutions.

3.1 Exact solutions and the behavior of scalar fields

We shall have to solve equations (3.7) and (3.9) for H, ω_{ϕ} , $\bar{\beta}$, and V, which is not possible unless two are known. In the present subsection, we consider an example to find an exact solution of the equation of state of the scalar field in the quadratic coupling vector. The equation of state for the scalar field has been intensively studied in [33] for the so called tracking cosmological solutions introduced in [34], and some classes of potentials allowing for the field equation of state were described.

Let us consider a simple model

$$H = H_0, \qquad \bar{\beta}(\phi) = m\phi^2, \qquad (3.11)$$

where H_0 and m are positive constant parameters. The equation (3.7) can now be integrated to yield the evolution of the scalar field

$$\phi(t) = \phi_0 \exp\left[-4\eta m H_0(t - t_0)\right], \qquad (3.12)$$

where $\phi(t = t_0) \equiv \phi_0$ is a constant. Then, it is easy to find the equation of state of the scalar field by using eq. (3.9). We obtain

$$\omega_{\phi} = -1 + \frac{16}{3}m, \quad \text{for ordinary scalar fields}, \qquad (3.13)$$

$$\omega_{\phi} = -1 - \frac{16}{3}m, \quad \text{for phantom fields} . \tag{3.14}$$

Then, the potential and the kinetic energies, the energy density and the pressure of the scalar field evolve according to

$$V(t) = mH_0^2\phi_0^2(3-8m)\exp\left[-8\eta mH_0(t-t_0)\right], \qquad (3.15)$$

$$K(t) = 8\eta \left(mH_0\phi_0\right)^2 \exp\left[-8\eta mH_0(t-t_0)\right], \qquad (3.16)$$

$$\rho(t) = 3mH_0^2\phi_0^2 \exp\left[-8\eta m H_0(t-t_0)\right], \qquad (3.17)$$

$$p(t) = \eta m H_0^2 \phi_0^2 \left(16m - 3\eta\right) \exp\left[-8\eta m H_0(t - t_0)\right] .$$
(3.18)

The above solutions are completely associated with the Lorentz violation. The model (3.11) depicts that the cosmic evolution starts from a constant value of the scale factor and grows exponentially, $a(t) = a_0 e^{H_0(t-t_0)}$. The coupling vector decreases exponentially for the ordinary scalar field and increases exponentially for the phantom field from a constant value of $m\phi_0^2$. Hence the potential energy, the kinetic energy, the energy density and the pressure decrease exponentially for the ordinary scalar field. For the phantom field, on the other hand, the potential energy and energy density as well as the absolute values of the kinetic energy and the pressure increase exponentially. Note that the kinetic energy and the pressure begin with the negative values. The eqs. (3.13)-(3.14) show that the equation of state ω_{ϕ} is non-dynamical because it only depends on the value of the coupling vector parameter m, both for the ordinary scalar and the phantom fields. Since an accelerated expansion occurs for $\omega_{\phi} < -1/3$ then we have m < 1/8 for the ordinary scalar field. However, the present data of the Universe seems to tell that ω_{ϕ} might be less than -1. Thus, the value m may be chosen in order to fit the present observable constraint on the equation of state parameter.

In other case, for instance, $H(\phi) = H_0 \phi^{\xi}$ and $\bar{\beta}(\phi) = m \phi^2$, we also find the constant equation of state,

$$\omega_{\phi} = -1 + \frac{4}{3}\eta m(\xi + 2)^2 . \qquad (3.19)$$

The condition for the accelerating Universe \ddot{a} or H'/H > -1 yields

$$\eta m < \frac{1}{2\xi(\xi+2)} . \tag{3.20}$$

This model gives a power law expansion

$$\frac{a(t)}{a_o} = \left[1 + \frac{H_0 \phi_0^{\xi}}{p} (t - t_0)\right]^p, \qquad p > 1,$$
(3.21)

where

$$p = \frac{1}{2\eta m\xi(\xi+2)} .$$
 (3.22)

The scalar field evolve as

$$\phi(t) = \phi_0 \left(1 + \frac{H_0 \phi_0^{\xi}}{p} (t - t_0) \right)^{-1/\xi} .$$
(3.23)

Hence, the complete set of solutions is found by substituting eqs. (3.19) and (3.23) into eqs. (3.10).

In the following subsection, we will see that the equation of state may be dynamics. For this purpose we generalize the coupling vector to $\bar{\beta}(\phi) = m\phi^n$, n > 2.

3.2 Variable equation of states

Let us consider a model where the coupling vector is a power law of the scalar field,

$$H = H_0, \quad \bar{\beta}(\phi) = m\phi^n, \quad n > 2,$$
 (3.24)

where H_0 , m and n are constant positive parameters. Following the same above procedure, the scalar ϕ can be evaluated as,

$$\phi(t) = \frac{\phi_0}{\left[1 + 2\eta m n H_0(n-2)\phi_0^{n-2}(t-t_0)\right]^{\frac{1}{n-2}}},$$
(3.25)

the coupling vector is given by

$$\bar{\beta}(t) = \frac{m\phi_0^n}{\left[1 + 2\eta m n H_0(n-2)\phi_0^{n-2}(t-t_0)\right]^{\frac{n}{n-2}}},$$
(3.26)

and the dynamical equation of state (3.9) is

$$\omega(t) = -1 + \frac{4\eta m n^2 \phi_0^{n-2}/3}{1 + 2\eta m n H_0(n-2)\phi_0^{n-2}(t-t_0)} .$$
(3.27)

Then, the potential and kinetic energies, the energy density and the pressure of the scalar field are given by

$$V(t) = 3mH_0^2\phi_0^n \left[1 - \frac{2\eta mn^2\phi_0^{n-2}/3}{1 + 2\eta mnH_0(n-2)\phi_0^{n-2}(t-t_0)}\right] \times$$
(2.26)

$$\times \frac{1}{\left[1 + 2\eta m n H_0(n-2)\phi_0^{n-2}(t-t_0)\right]^{\frac{n}{n-2}}},$$
(3.28)

$$K(t) = \frac{2\eta \left(mnH_0\phi_0^{n-1}\right)}{\left[1 + 2\eta mnH_0(n-2)\phi_0^{n-2}(t-t_0)\right]^{\frac{2(n-1)}{n-2}}},$$
(3.29)

$$\rho(t) = \frac{3mH_0^2\phi_0^n}{\left[1 + 2\eta m n H_0(n-2)\phi_0^{n-2}(t-t_0)\right]^{\frac{n}{n-2}}},$$
(3.30)

$$p(t) = 3mH_0^2\phi_0^n \left[-1 + \frac{4\eta mn^2\phi_0^{n-2}/3}{1 + 2\eta mnH_0(n-2)\phi_0^{n-2}(t-t_0)} \right] \times \frac{1}{\left[1 + 2\eta mnH_0(n-2)\phi_0^{n-2}(t-t_0) \right]^{\frac{n}{n-2}}}.$$
(3.31)

Thus, the model (3.24) describes that the cosmic evolution grows exponentially from a constant value of the scale factor, $a(t) = a_0 e^{H_0(t-t_0)}$, while the coupling vector $\bar{\beta}$ started from a constant value of the scalar field, $m\phi_0^n$. The equation of state ω_{ϕ} is dynamical both for the ordinary scalar and phantom fields. Then the potential energy, kinetic energy, the energy density and the pressure decrease for the ordinary scalar field. For the phantom field, on the other hand, the potential and energy density increase while the kinetic energy and pressure begin with the negative values.

4. Lorentz violating inflation scenario

As it has been studied by authors in ref. [24], the Lorentz violation on the inflationary scenario can be divided into two parts: the Lorentz violations stage $8\pi G\beta \gg 1$ and the standard slow roll stage $8\pi G\beta \ll 1$. The first stage corresponds to $\bar{\beta} = \beta$ in eq. (2.24) and the second stage corresponds to $\bar{\beta} = 1/8\pi G$, then we have the usual dynamical equations.

In this section we will consider the inflationary scenario for the scalar field (inflaton). In particular, we consider a power-law coupling vector, $\beta(\phi) = m\phi^n$, with two types of the potential: $V(\phi) = \mu^{4+\nu}\phi^{-\nu}$ and $V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}M^2\phi^2$. Here μ , ν and M are parameters. Thus, the dynamics of each particular inflationary model are determined by the Friedmann equation and the scalar field equation of motion once the functional form of the inflaton potential and the coupling parameter have been specified. Let us collect the dynamicsrelated equations for the inflaton the Friedmann equation (3.5) in inflationary models

$$H^{2} = \frac{1}{3\bar{\beta}} \left[\frac{1}{2} H^{2} \phi'^{2} + V(\phi) \right] , \qquad (4.1)$$

the constraint equation (obtained from eqs. (3.4) and (2.21))

$$\frac{H'}{H} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\phi'^2}{\bar{\beta}} + \frac{\bar{\beta}'}{\bar{\beta}} = 0, \qquad (4.2)$$

and the equation of motion eq. (3.6)

$$\phi'' + \frac{H'}{H}\phi' + 3\phi' + \frac{V_{,\phi}}{H^2} + 3\bar{\beta}_{,\phi} = 0.$$
(4.3)

 $\bar{\beta}$ is given by eq. (2.24). The above equation of motion change its property at the critical value ϕ_c defined by

$$8\pi G\beta(\phi_c) = 1 . (4.4)$$

For example, a coupling parameter of the form $\beta = m\phi^2$ gives the critical value

$$\phi_c = \frac{M_{pl}}{\sqrt{8m\pi}}, M_{pl} = G^{-1} .$$
(4.5)

Let ϕ_i be the corresponding initial value of the scalar field. Putting $\phi_i \sim 3M_{pl}$, the Lorentz violation implies the criterion $m > 1/(72\pi) \sim 1/226$.

The set of eqs. (4.1)–(4.3) constitutes the equations we have to solve for the problem specified by the coupling parameter $\beta(\phi)$ and the potential $V(\phi)$. In following subsection, we consider with a model with the coupling parameter $\beta(\phi)$ is given by

$$\beta(\phi) = m\phi^n \,, \tag{4.6}$$

where n and m are parameters. For the model (4.6), we obtain the critical value of the scalar field and the criterion for Lorentz violation

$$\phi_c = \left(\frac{M_{pl}^2}{8m\pi}\right)^{1/n} \quad and \quad m > \frac{M_{pl}^2}{8\pi (3M_{pl})^n} \ . \tag{4.7}$$

Now, we consider two typical potentials appear in many cosmological implications: an inverse power-law potential and a power-law potential. We discuss those solutions and analyze the two regimes separately.

4.1 Inverse power law potential: $V(\phi) = \mu^{4+\nu} \phi^{-\nu}$

In this subsection, we consider the class of power law potential

$$V(\phi) = \mu^{4+\nu} \phi^{-\nu} \,, \tag{4.8}$$

where μ and ν are constants. Inverse power law models are interesting for a number of reasons. In conventional cosmology, they drive intermediate inflation [35] and typically produce significant tensor perturbations for almost scale-invariant scalar fluctuations. They arise in supersymmetric condensate models of QCD [36] and can in principle act as a source of quintessence [12, 37].

4.1.1 Lorentz violating stage

For a sufficiently larger value of ϕ , both the coupling function β and the potential function V are important in the present model. During this period, the effect of Lorentz violation on the inflaton dynamics must be large. In the Lorentz violating regime, $8\pi G\beta \gg 1$ ($\bar{\beta} = \beta$), we have the equation (4.1)–(4.3).

An inflationary epoch, in which the scale factors a are accelerating, requires the scalar field ϕ to evolve slowly compared to the expansion of the universe. Thus, the following conditions of slow-rolling are required:

$$H^2 \phi'^2 \ll V, \quad \phi'' \ll \phi', \quad \phi'^2 \ll \beta, \quad and \quad \beta' \ll \beta.$$
 (4.9)

The formalism which gives these slow roll conditions are discussed in ref. [24]. This is sufficient to guarantee inflation. Under the slow-roll conditions eq. (4.9), the eqs. (4.1)–(4.3) can be simplified. We obtain the slow roll equations

$$H^2 \simeq \frac{V}{3\beta}, \quad and \quad \phi' \simeq -\beta \left(\frac{\beta_{,\phi}}{\beta} + \frac{V_{,\phi}}{V}\right) .$$
 (4.10)

Inserting eq. (4.6) and the potential of the form $V(\phi) = \mu^{4+\nu} \phi^{-\nu}$ into eq. (4.10), we have

$$H^2 = \frac{\mu^{4+\nu}}{3m} \phi^{-(\nu+n)} , \qquad (4.11)$$

$$\phi' = -m(n-\nu)\phi^{(n-1)} .$$
(4.12)

One can then solve for ϕ from eq. (4.12),

$$\phi(\alpha) = \left[\phi_i^{2-n} + m(n-2)(n-\nu)(\alpha - \alpha_i)\right]^{-\frac{1}{n-2}}, \quad for \quad n \neq 2, n \neq \nu,$$
(4.13)

where $\phi(\alpha = \alpha_i) \equiv \phi_i$ is a constant. The Friedmann equation gives

$$H^{2}(\alpha) = \frac{\mu^{4+\nu}}{3m} \left[\phi_{i}^{2-n} + m(n-2)(n-\nu)(\alpha-\alpha_{i}) \right]^{\frac{n+\nu}{n-2}} .$$
(4.14)

The solution (4.13) and the slow roll conditions (4.9) during the Lorentz violating stage give n > 2 because

$$\phi^{\prime 2}\left(\sim \alpha^{-2(1-n)/(2-n)}\right) \ll \beta\left(\sim \alpha^{n/(2-n)}\right), \qquad (4.15)$$

$$\beta'\left(\sim \alpha^{-2(1-n)/(2-n)}\right) \ll \beta\left(\sim \alpha^{n/(2-n)}\right) . \tag{4.16}$$

From eq. (4.14), the universe expands during the Lorentz violating stage as

$$\frac{a(t)}{a_i} = \exp\left\{-\frac{B}{C} + \frac{1}{C}\left(\frac{1}{B^{D-1}} - AC(D-1)(t-t_i)\right)^{-\frac{1}{D-1}}\right\}, \quad C \neq 0, \qquad (4.17)$$

where the constants A, B, C and D are

$$A = \sqrt{\frac{\mu^{4+\nu}}{3m}}, \quad B = \phi_i^{2-n}, \quad C = m(n-2)(n-\nu), \quad D = \frac{n+\nu}{2(n-2)}.$$
(4.18)

Combining eqs. (4.17), (4.13) and (4.14), we obtain the physical quantities

$$\phi(t) = \left(\frac{1}{B^{D-1}} - AC(D-1)(t-t_i)\right)^{\frac{1}{(D-1)(n-2)}},$$
(4.19)

$$H(t) = A \left(\frac{1}{B^{D-1}} - AC(D-1)(t-t_i)\right)^{-\frac{D}{(D-1)}},$$
(4.20)

$$\beta(t) = n \left(\frac{1}{B^{D-1}} - AC(D-1)(t-t_i) \right)^{\frac{n}{(D-1)(n-2)}} .$$
(4.21)

The scalar field energy density, on the other hand, evolves according to

$$\rho(t) \simeq V = 3mA^2 \left(\frac{1}{B^{D-1}} - AC(D-1)(t-t_i)\right)^{\frac{n-2D(n-2)}{(D-1)(n-2)}}.$$
(4.22)

One can see that the Hubble parameter H decreases during the Lorentz violation stage.

For $n = 2, \nu \neq 2$, eq. (4.6) and the second part of eq. (4.10) gives

$$\phi(\alpha) = \phi_i e^{-n(2-\nu)(\alpha-\alpha_i)}, \qquad (4.23)$$

where $\phi(\alpha = \alpha_i) \equiv \phi_i$. For this solution to satisfy slow roll conditions (4.9), we need $m < 1/(2 - \nu)^2$. Thus, we have the range $1/226 < m < 1/(2 - \nu)^2$ of the parameter for which the Lorentz violating inflation is relevant. The Hubble parameter as a function of the scale factor, α , is given by

$$H^{2}(\alpha) = H_{i}^{2} e^{-m(\nu^{2} - 4)(\alpha - \alpha_{i})}, \qquad (4.24)$$

where

$$H_i^2 = \frac{\mu^{4+\nu}}{3m\phi_i^{(2+\nu)}},$$
(4.25)

while the scale factor $a(t) = e^{\alpha}$ is of the form:

$$\frac{a(t)}{a_i} = \left[\frac{\phi(t)}{\phi_i}\right]^{\frac{1}{m(\nu-2)}} . \tag{4.26}$$

Now we obtain the evolution of some physical quantities as follows

$$\frac{a(t)}{a_i} = \left[m(\nu^2 - 4)H_i^2(t - t_i)\right]^{\frac{1}{m(\nu^2 - 4)}},$$
(4.27)

$$\frac{\phi(t)}{\phi_i} = \left[m(\nu^2 - 4)H_i^2(t - t_i)\right]^{\frac{1}{\nu+2}},$$
(4.28)

$$\frac{H(t)}{H_i^2} = \sqrt{m(4-\nu^2)(t-t_i)}, \qquad (4.29)$$

$$\frac{\beta(t)}{m\phi_i^2} = \left[m(\nu^2 - 4)H_i^2(t - t_i)\right]^{\frac{2}{\nu+2}},$$
(4.30)

$$\rho(t) = \frac{\mu^{4+\nu}}{\phi_i} \left[m(\nu^2 - 4) H_i^2(t - t_i) \right]^{-\frac{\nu}{\nu+2}} .$$
(4.31)

4.1.2 Standard slow roll stage

After the inflaton crosses the critical value ϕ_c , the dynamics is governed entirely by the potential V. In the standard slow roll regime $8\pi G\beta \ll 1$ ($\bar{\beta} = (8\pi G)^{-1}$), we have

$$H^{2} = \frac{8\pi G}{3} \left[\frac{1}{2} H^{2} \phi'^{2} + V \right], \qquad (4.32)$$

$$\frac{H'}{H} + 4\pi G \phi'^2 = 0, \qquad (4.33)$$

$$\phi'' + \frac{H'}{H}\phi' + 3\phi' + \frac{V_{,\phi}}{H^2} = 0 . \qquad (4.34)$$

The usual slow roll conditions give the slow roll equations

$$H^2 \simeq \frac{8\pi G}{3} V, \quad \phi' \simeq -\frac{1}{8\pi G} \frac{V_{,\phi}}{V}.$$
 (4.35)

In the simplest case $V(\phi) = \mu^{4+\nu} \phi^{-\nu}$, the evolution of the inflaton and the Hubble parameter can be solved as

$$\phi^{2}(\alpha) = \phi_{c}^{2} + \frac{\nu}{4\pi G} (\alpha - \alpha_{c}), \qquad (4.36)$$

$$H^{2}(\alpha) = \frac{8\pi G}{3} \mu^{4+\nu} \left[\phi_{c}^{2} + \frac{\nu}{4\pi G} (\alpha - \alpha_{c}) \right]^{-\nu/2}, \qquad (4.37)$$

and the scale factor is given by

$$\frac{a(t)}{a_c} = \exp\left[\frac{4\pi G}{\nu}(\phi^2(t) - \phi_c^2)\right] .$$
 (4.38)

The standard inflation stage ends and the reheating commences when the slow roll conditions violate. The evolution equations are given by

$$\frac{a(t)}{a_c} = \exp\left\{-\frac{B_s}{C_s} + \frac{1}{C_s}\left[B_s^{D_s+1} + A_sC_s(D_s+1)(t-t_c)\right]^{\frac{1}{D_s+1}}\right\},$$
(4.39)

$$\phi(t) = \left[B_s^{D_s+1} + A_s C_s (D_s+1)(t-t_c)\right]^{\frac{1}{2(D_s+1)}}, \qquad (4.40)$$

$$H(t) = A_s \left[B_s^{D_s + 1} + A_s C_s (D_s + 1)(t - t_c) \right]^{\frac{D_s}{(D_s + 1)}},$$
(4.41)

and the scalar field energy density evolves as

$$\rho(t) = \frac{3}{8} \left(\frac{A_s^2 C_s}{D_s} \right) \left[B_s^{D_s + 1} + A_s C_s (D_s + 1) (t - t_c) \right]^{\frac{2D_s}{(D_s + 1)}} .$$
(4.42)

where A_s , B_s , C_s and D_s are the constants,

$$A_s = \sqrt{\frac{8\pi G}{3}\mu^{4+\nu}}, \quad B_s = \phi_c^2, \quad C_s = \frac{\nu}{4\pi G}, \quad D_s = \frac{\nu}{4}.$$
(4.43)

Note that, in the standard slow roll stage, the Hubble parameter H increases.

Another interesting quantity is the number of e-folding during the inflationary phase. The total e-folding number reads

$$N = -\frac{B}{C} + \frac{1}{C} \left(\frac{1}{B^{D-1}} - AC(D-1)(t_c - t_i) \right)^{-\frac{1}{D-1}} - \frac{B_s}{C_s} + \frac{1}{C_s} \left[B_s^{D_s+1} + A_s C_s (D_s+1)(t_e - t_c) \right]^{\frac{1}{D_s+1}} = \frac{1}{C} \left(\phi_c^{2-n} - \phi_i^{2-n} \right) + \frac{4\pi G}{\nu} \left(\phi_e^2 - \phi_c^2 \right) ,$$
(4.44)

for $m > 2, \nu \neq m$ and

$$N = \frac{1}{n(\nu^2 - 4)} \log \left[n(\nu^2 - 4) H_i^2(t_c - t_i) \right] - \frac{B_s}{C_s} + \frac{1}{C_s} \left[B_s^{D_s + 1} + A_s C_s(D_s + 1)(t_e - t_c) \right]^{\frac{1}{D_s + 1}} = \frac{1}{m(2 - \nu)} \log \left(\frac{\phi_i}{\phi_c} \right) + \frac{4\pi G}{\nu} \left(\phi_e^2 - \phi_c^2 \right) , \qquad (4.45)$$

for $n = 2, \nu \neq 2$. Note that the first terms of the above equations arise from the Lorentz violating stage. As an example, let us take the values: N = 70, $m = 10^{-2}$, n = 2 and $\nu = 1$. If $\phi_e \sim 0.3 M_{pl}$ is the value of scalar field at the end of inflation, then, $\phi_c \sim 2 M_{pl}$. The contribution from the inflation end is still relevant. Therefore, we get $\phi_i \sim 2.5 M_{pl}$.

4.2 Power law potential: $V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}M^2\phi^2$

4.2.1 Lorentz violating stage

The most realistic inflationary universe scenarios are chaotic models. For the model $V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}M^2\phi^2$, assuming the slow roll conditions, we find the slow roll equations during the Lorentz

violating regime as follows

$$H^2 = \frac{M^2}{6n} \phi^{-(n-2)} , \qquad (4.46)$$

$$\phi' = -m(n+2)\phi^{(n-1)} . (4.47)$$

Then we find the solution (4.47) as

$$\phi(\alpha) = \left[\phi_i^{2-n} + m(n^2 - 4)(\alpha - \alpha_i)\right]^{\frac{1}{2-n}}, \qquad (4.48)$$

for $m \neq 2$ and

$$\phi(\alpha) = \phi_i e^{-4m(\alpha - \alpha_i)}, \qquad (4.49)$$

for n = 2. The inflationary scenario of this model was already obtained in ref. [24] where the Hubble parameter becomes constant during the Lorentz violating regime and 1/226 < m < 1/16 is the range of parameter m. We concern here the solution for $n \neq 2$. The solution for the Hubble parameter is given by

$$H^{2}(\alpha) = \frac{M^{2}}{6m} \left[\phi_{i}^{2-n} + m(n^{2} - 4)(\alpha - \alpha_{i}) \right], \qquad (4.50)$$

and

$$\frac{a(t)}{a_i} = \exp\left[\frac{1}{m(n^2 - 4)} \left(\frac{1}{\phi^{n-2}(t)} - \frac{1}{\phi_i^{n-2}}\right)\right],\tag{4.51}$$

which is the solution for the scale factor. As in the previous subsection, we also obtain n > 2 which the effect of Lorentz violation occurs in this regime. The time evolution of the above equations can be obtained by integrating eq. (4.50), we get

$$\alpha(t) = \alpha_i - \frac{b}{c} + \frac{1}{c} \left[b^{1/2} + \frac{1}{2} dc (t - t_i) \right]^2, \qquad (4.52)$$

where

$$b = \phi_i^{2-n}, \quad c = m(n^2 - 4), \quad d = \sqrt{\frac{M^2}{6m}}, \quad n > 2.$$
 (4.53)

Then the evolution equations are given by

$$\frac{a(t)}{a_i} = \exp\left\{-\frac{b}{c} + \frac{1}{c}\left[b^{1/2} + \frac{1}{2}dc(t-t_i)\right]^2\right\},$$
(4.54)

$$\phi(t) = \left[b^{1/2} + \frac{1}{2}dc(t-t_i)\right]^{-\frac{2}{n-2}},$$
(4.55)

$$H(t) = d\left[b^{1/2} + \frac{1}{2}dc(t - t_i)\right], \qquad (4.56)$$

$$\beta(t) = n \left[b^{1/2} + \frac{1}{2} dc(t - t_i) \right]^{-\frac{2n}{n-2}}, \qquad (4.57)$$

$$\rho(t) = 3nd^2 \left[b^{1/2} + \frac{1}{2} dc(t - t_i) \right]^{-\frac{4}{n-2}} .$$
(4.58)

Since b, c and d are positive constants, one can see that the Hubble parameter H and the scale factor a increase during the Lorentz violating stage for n > 2. In the case n = 2, the Hubble parameter is constant. In the following subsection, we will see that the Hubble parameter decreases in the standard slow roll stage. Therefore, we can generate the spectrum with the initial (steep) blue and the later (slightly) red spectra. This may explain the deficiency of the CMB power spectrum at large scales observed by WMAP [11].

4.2.2 Standard slow roll stage

Now, let us consider the chaotic inflationary scenario in the standard slow roll stage. A set of the dynamical equations of the scalar field are given by eqs. (4.32)-(4.34). Assuming the standard slow roll conditions, we find the slow roll equations

$$H^2 \simeq \frac{4\pi G}{3} M^2 \phi^2 \,,$$
 (4.59)

$$\phi' \simeq -\frac{1}{4\pi G} \phi^{-1} \ . \tag{4.60}$$

The evolution of the inflaton can be solved as

$$\phi^{2}(\alpha) = \phi_{c}^{2} - \frac{1}{2\pi G}(\alpha - \alpha_{c}) . \qquad (4.61)$$

The Hubble parameter and the scale factor $a(t) = e^{\alpha}$ can be also obtained as

$$H^{2} = \frac{4\pi G M^{2}}{3} \left(\phi_{c}^{2} - \frac{1}{2\pi G} (\alpha - \alpha_{c}) \right) , \qquad (4.62)$$

$$a(t) = a_c \exp\left[2\pi G(\phi_c^2 - \phi^2(t))\right] .$$
(4.63)

From eq. (4.62), we obtain

$$\alpha(t) - \alpha_c = \frac{b_s}{c_s} - \frac{1}{c_s} \left[b_s^{1/2} - \frac{1}{2} d_s c_s (t - t_c) \right]^2 , \qquad (4.64)$$

and the dynamical evolutions are given by

$$\frac{a(t)}{a_c} = \exp\left[\frac{b_s}{c_s} - \frac{1}{c_s}\left(b_s^{1/2} - \frac{1}{2}d_sc_s(t-t_c)\right)^2\right],$$
(4.65)

$$\phi(t) = b_s^{1/2} - \frac{1}{2} d_s c_s(t - t_c), \qquad (4.66)$$

$$H(t) = d_s \left[b_s^{1/2} - \frac{1}{2} d_s c_s (t - t_c) \right] , \qquad (4.67)$$

$$\rho(t) = \frac{3c_s d_s}{4} \left[b_s^{1/2} - \frac{1}{2} d_s c_s (t - t_c) \right]^2 , \qquad (4.68)$$

with

$$b_s = \phi_c^2, \quad c_s = \frac{1}{2\pi G}, \quad d_s = \frac{4\pi G M^2}{3}.$$
 (4.69)

Note that the Hubble parameter decreases in the standard slow roll stage.

In the case of chaotic potential, the total e-folding number reads

$$N = -\frac{b}{c} + \frac{1}{c} \left[b^{1/2} + \frac{1}{2} dc(t_c - t_i) \right]^2 + \frac{b_s}{c_s} - \frac{1}{c_s} \left[b_s^{1/2} - \frac{1}{2} d_s c_s(t_e - t_c) \right]^2$$
$$= \frac{1}{m(n^2 - 4)} \left(\phi_c^{2-n} - \phi_i^{2-n} \right) + 2\pi G \left(\phi_c^2 - \phi_e^2 \right) , \qquad (4.70)$$

where ϕ_e is the value of scalar field at the end of inflation. The first term arises from the Lorentz violating stage.

5. Phase-space analysis

In this section, we investigate the global structure of the dynamical system via phase plane analysis and compute the cosmological evolution by numerical analysis. Introducing the following variables:

$$x \equiv \frac{\phi'}{\sqrt{6\bar{\beta}}}, \qquad y \equiv \sqrt{\frac{V}{3H^2\bar{\beta}}},$$
 (5.1)

$$\lambda_1 \equiv -\frac{\bar{\beta}_{,\phi}}{\sqrt{\beta}}, \qquad \lambda_2 \equiv -\sqrt{\bar{\beta}}\frac{V_{,\phi}}{V}, \qquad (5.2)$$

$$\Gamma_1 \equiv \frac{\bar{\beta}\bar{\beta}_{,\phi\phi}}{\bar{\beta}_{,\phi}^2}, \qquad \Gamma_2 \equiv \frac{VV_{,\phi\phi}}{V_{,\phi}^2}, \qquad (5.3)$$

the eqs. (4.2) and (4.3) can be written as a plane-autonomous system

$$x' = -3x(1-x^2) + \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}}(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2)y^2, \qquad (5.4)$$

$$y' = \left[3x - \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}} (\lambda_1 + \lambda_2) \right] xy, \qquad (5.5)$$

$$\lambda_1' = -\sqrt{6}\lambda_1^2 \left(\Gamma_1 - \frac{1}{2}\right) x, \qquad (5.6)$$

$$\lambda_2' = -\sqrt{6}\lambda_2^2 \left[\Gamma_2 - \left(1 - \frac{\lambda_1}{2\lambda_2}\right)\right] x, \qquad (5.7)$$

where the prime denotes a derivative with respect to the logarithm of the scale factor, $\alpha = \ln a$. The functions $\lambda_1(\phi)$ and $\lambda_2(\phi)$ determine a type of the coupling vector and the potential, respectively. The Friedmann constraint, eq. (4.1), takes the simple form

$$x^2 + y^2 = 1 . (5.8)$$

The equation of state for the scalar field could be expressed in terms of the new variables as

$$\omega_{\phi} = \frac{p_{\phi}}{\rho_{\phi}} = \frac{x^2 - y^2}{x^2 + y^2} .$$
(5.9)



Figure 1: The phase plane of Lorentz violating kinetic dominated solution for m > 3/8.

Notice that x^2 measures the contribution to the expansion due to the scalar field kinetic energy and the coupling function, while y^2 measures the contribution to the expansion due to the potential energy and the the coupling function.

Equations (5.4)–(5.7) are written as an autonomous phase system of the form $\mathbf{x}' = \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x})$ where $\mathbf{x} = (x, y, \lambda_1, \lambda_2)$. The use of this form for the dynamical equations allows the fixed points of the system to be readily identified, and the so-called critical points \mathbf{x}_0 are solutions of the system of equations $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}_0) = 0$. To determine their stability we need to perform linear perturbations around the critical points in the form $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x}_0 + \mathbf{u}$, which results in the following equations of motion $\mathbf{u}' = M\mathbf{u}$, where

$$M_{ij} = \frac{\partial f_i}{\partial x_j} \Big|_{\mathbf{x}_0} \,. \tag{5.10}$$

In the case of the dynamical equations (5.4)–(5.7), **u** is a 4-column vector consisting of the perturbations of x, y, λ_1 and λ_2 . Thus, M_{ij} is a 4 × 4 matrix. The stability of the critical points is determined by the eigenvalues μ_i of the matrix M at the critical points. A non-trivial critical point is called stable (unstable) whenever the eigenvalues of M are such that $Re(\mu_i) < 0$ ($Re(\mu_i) > 0$). If neither of the aforementioned cases are accomplished, the critical point is called a saddle point.

In the following, we will study the simplest model,

$$\bar{\beta}(\phi) = m\phi^2, \qquad V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}M^2\phi^2,$$
(5.11)

where m and M are parameters. Substituting eqs. (5.11) into eqs. (5.2) and (5.3), respectively, we obtain

$$\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = -2\sqrt{m}, \qquad \Gamma_1 = \Gamma_2 = \frac{1}{2}, \qquad (5.12)$$

and eqs. (5.6) and (5.7) are trivially satisfied. In the former, eqs. (5.4) and (5.5) can be fused into the single equation,

$$x' = -\left[3x - \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}}(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2)\right](1 - x^2) = -\left(3x + 2\sqrt{6m}\right)(1 - x^2),$$
(5.13)

which is one dimensional phase-space corresponding to the unit circle. Critical points correspond to fixed points where $\mathbf{x}' = 0$, and there are Lorentz violation self-similar solutions with

$$\frac{H'}{H} = -3x^2 + \sqrt{6\lambda_1 x} . (5.14)$$

Note that the second term arises from Lorentz violation. Applying the above procedure, setting $\mathbf{x}' = 0$, the critical points (x_0, y_0) of the system are (1, 0), (-1, 0), and $(-\sqrt{8m/3}, \sqrt{1-8m/3})$. For any form of the potential in the Lorentz violation stage, the critical points (1, 0) or (-1, 0) correspond to two Lorentz violation kinetic-dominated solutions. Then, the critical point $(-\sqrt{8m/3}, \sqrt{1-8m/3})$ corresponds to a Lorentz violation potential-kinetic solution. Integration of eq. (5.14) with respect to α will show that all critical points, \mathbf{x}_0 , correspond to the Hubble parameter

$$H \propto \exp\left(-\frac{\alpha}{p}\right)$$
 (5.15)

This relates to an expanding universe with a scale factor a(t) given by $a(t) \sim t^p$, where

$$p \equiv \frac{1}{3x_0^2 - \sqrt{6\lambda_1 x_0}} = \frac{1}{3x_0^2 + 2\sqrt{6mx_0}} .$$
 (5.16)

The linear perturbation about the points $x_{0+} = +1$ and $x_{0-} = -1$ give the eigenvalues $\mu_+ = 6 + 4\sqrt{6m}$ and $\mu_- = 6 - 4\sqrt{6m}$, respectively. Thus for positive $m, x_{0+} = +1$ is always unstable and $x_{0-} = -1$ is stable for m > 3/8 but unstable for m < 3/8. Moreover, in the linear perturbation about the Lorentz violation potential-kinetic solution, we obtain the eigenvalue $\mu = 8m - 3$. The solution is stable for m < 3/8. In figures 1 and 2, we show the phase plane plot for m > 3/8 and m < 3/8. We note that the trajectories are confined inside the circle given by $x^2 + y^2 = 1$.

Another remarkable feature of the above model is that the equation of state is given by

$$\omega_{\phi} = -1 + \frac{16}{3}m, \qquad (5.17)$$

completely determined by the parameter m of the coupling vector. Thus, we always have $\omega_{\phi} > -1$ for ordinary scalar field.



Figure 2: The phase plane of Lorentz violating kinetic-potential solution for m < 3/8.

6. Conclusions

In this paper, we have studied the dynamics of a scalar field in the Lorentz violating scalarvector-tensor theory of gravity, taking into account the effect of the power-law effective coupling vector. Since the effective coupling vector be dynamics variable, the equation of state is dependent on the coupling parameter. For the model with the power law Hubble parameter and coupling vector, we find an exact solution of the equation of state. A constant equation of state corresponds to n = 2 while for n > 2 leads to dynamics equation of states. In this case, the scalar fields are completely associated with the Lorentz violation.

Also, the different form in the coupling vector and the potential models lead to the different qualitative evolution in two regimes of inflation. The results show that, for the inverse power-law potential, the Hubble parameter decreases during the Lorentz violation stage and increases in the standard slow roll stage. For the power-law potential, the Hubble parameter increases during the Lorentz violation stage but it decreases in the standard slow roll stage.

From the qualitative study of the dynamical system, we have demonstrated the attractor behavior of inflation driven by a scalar field in the context of scalar-vector-tensor theory of gravity. We have found that there exists the Lorentz violating kinetic dominated solution and the Lorentz violating potential-kinetic dominated solution, depending on the region of the coupling parameter in the simplest Lorentz violating chaotic inflation model. The quadratic coupling vector and the chaotic potential correspond to the constants $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = -2\sqrt{m}$ and $\Gamma_1 = \Gamma_2 = 1/2$. There are two important results of this study, which are different from the scalar-tensor theory of gravity: the condition for the accelerating universe, eq. (5.14) and the slope, p, eq. (5.16). The first one yields $\lambda_1 \mathbf{x}_0 > \sqrt{3/8}(\omega_{\phi} + 1/3)$. The analysis of the critical points show that we may obtain an accelerated expansion provided that the solutions are approaching the Lorentz violation kinetic dominated solution with m > 1/6 and approaching the Lorentz violation potential-kinetic dominated solution with m < 3/8. When the accelerating condition is satisfied, the slope p characterizes the properties of the inflating universe: power-law inflation (p > 0), de Sitter inflation (p = 0) and superinflation ($p \equiv -|p| < 0$). In other cases, if λ_1 and λ_2 are constants, one finds that the coupling vector is still quadratic in scalar field, $\bar{\beta} \sim \phi^2$, while the potential as a function of scalar field ϕ is given by a power-law potential, $V(\phi) \sim \phi^{2\gamma}$ and $\Gamma_1 = 1/2$, $\Gamma_2 = 1 - 1/2\gamma$, where $\gamma = \lambda_2/\lambda_1$. Moreover, in order to obtain dynamical evolution of the system, we need to solve eqs. (5.6) and (5.7) together with eqs. (5.4) and (5.5). For a realistic model, the effect of an additional component (matter field) would be interesting [38].

Finally, we would like to emphasize that there exists an attractor solution in the Lorentz violating scalar-vector-tensor theory of gravity.

Acknowledgments

Arianto and Supardi would like to thank BPPS, Dikti, Depdiknas, Republic of Indonesia for financial support. They also wish to acknowledge all members of Theoretical Physics Laboratory, Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, ITB, for warmest hospitality. This work is partially supported by Research KK ITB 2007 No. 174/K01.07/PL/07.

References

- A. Linde, Particle physics and inflationary cosmology, Harwood academic publishers (1980);
 E.W. Kolb and M.S. Turner, The early universe, Perseus Publishing (1990);
 A.R. Liddle and D.H. Lyth, Cosmological inflation and large-scale structure, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (2000).
- [2] A. Vilenkin, Cosmic strings and domain walls, Phys. Rept. 121 (1985) 263;
 T.W.B. Kibble, Topology of cosmic domains and strings, J. Phys. A 9 (1976) 1387;
 A. Vilenkin and E.P.S. Shellard, Cosmic strings and other topological defects, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (1994);
 M.B. Hindmarsh and T.W.B. Kibble, Cosmic strings, Rept. Prog. Phys. 58 (1995) 477 [hep-ph/9411342].
- [3] M.B. Green, J.H. Schwarz and E. Witten, Superstring theory, Vol. 1 and 2, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (1987).
- [4] T. Barreiro, B. de Carlos and E.J. Copeland, Stabilizing the dilaton in superstring cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 083513 [hep-th/9805005];
 G. Huey, P.J. Steinhardt, B.A. Ovrut and D. Waldram, A cosmological mechanism for stabilizing moduli, Phys. Lett. B 476 (2000) 379 [hep-th/0001112];
 T. Barreiro, B. de Carlos and N.J. Nunes, Moduli evolution in heterotic scenarios, Phys. Lett. B 497 (2001) 136 [hep-ph/0010102].

- [5] A. Sen, Rolling tachyon, JHEP 04 (2002) 048 [hep-th/0203211]; Tachyon matter, JHEP 07 (2002) 065 [hep-th/0203265].
- [6] G.W. Gibbons, Cosmological evolution of the rolling tachyon, Phys. Lett. B 537 (2002) 1 [hep-th/0204008].
- [7] A. Sen, Supersymmetric world-volume action for non-BPS D-branes, JHEP 10 (1999) 008 [hep-th/9909062];
 M.R. Garousi, Tachyon couplings on non-BPS D-branes and Dirac-Born-Infeld action, Nucl. Phys. B 584 (2000) 284 [hep-th/0003122];
 E.A. Bergshoeff, M. de Roo, T.C. de Wit, E. Eyras and S. Panda, T-duality and actions for non-BPS D-branes, JHEP 05 (2000) 009 [hep-th/0003221];
 J. Kluson, Proposal for non-BPS D-brane action, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 126003 [hep-th/0004106].
- [8] L. Kofman and A. Linde, Problems with tachyon inflation, JHEP 07 (2002) 004 [hep-th/0205121];
 A.V. Frolov, L. Kofman and A.A. Starobinsky, Prospects and problems of tachyon matter cosmology, Phys. Lett. B 545 (2002) 8 [hep-th/0204187].
- [9] SUPERNOVA SEARCH TEAM collaboration, A.G. Riess et al., Type IA supernova discoveries at z > 1 from the Hubble space telescope: evidence for past deceleration and constraints on dark energy evolution, Astrophys. J. 607 (2004) 665 [astro-ph/0402512].
- [10] H.K. Jassal, J.S. Bagla and T. Padmanabhan, The vanishing phantom menace, astro-ph/0601389.
- [11] WMAP collaboration, C.L. Bennett et al., First year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) observations: preliminary maps and basic results, Astrophys. J. Suppl. 148 (2003) 1 [astro-ph/0302207].
- [12] C. Wetterich, Cosmology and the fate of dilatation symmetry, Nucl. Phys. B 302 (1988) 668;
 P.J.E. Peebles and B. Ratra, Cosmology with a time-variable cosmological constant, Astrophys. J. 325 (1988) L17;
 B. Ratra and P.J.E. Peebles, Cosmological consequences of a rolling homogeneous scalar field, Phys. Rev. D 37 (1988) 3406;
 J.A. Frieman, C.T. Hill, A. Stebbins and I. Waga, Cosmology with ultralight pseudo Nambu-Goldstone bosons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 75 (1995) 2077 [astro-ph/9505060];
 R.R. Caldwell, R. Dave and P.J. Steinhardt, Cosmological imprint of an energy component with general equation-of-state, Phys. Rev. Lett. 80 (1998) 1582 [astro-ph/9708069];
 I. Zlatev, L.-M. Wang and P.J. Steinhardt, Quintessence, cosmic coincidence and the cosmological constant, Phys. Rev. Lett. 82 (1999) 896 [astro-ph/9807002].
- [13] C. Armendariz-Picon, T. Damour and V.F. Mukhanov, K-inflation, Phys. Lett. B 458 (1999) 209 [hep-th/9904075];
 C. Armendariz-Picon, V.F. Mukhanov and P.J. Steinhardt, A dynamical solution to the problem of a small cosmological constant and late-time cosmic acceleration, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 (2000) 4438 [astro-ph/0004134];
 T. Chiba, T. Okabe and M. Yamaguchi, Kinetically driven quintessence, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 023511 [astro-ph/9912463].
- [14] K. Greisen, End to the cosmic ray spectrum?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 16 (1966) 748.

- [15] G.T. Zatsepin and V.A. Kuzmin, Upper limit of the spectrum of cosmic rays, JETP Lett. 4 (1966) 78 [Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.4 (1966) 114].
- [16] M. Takeda et al., Extension of the cosmic-ray energy spectrum beyond the predicted Greisen-Zatsepin-Kuzmin cutoff, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81 (1998) 1163 [astro-ph/9807193].
- [17] J.D. Bekenstein, Relativistic gravitation theory for the mond paradigm, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 083509 [Erratum ibid. D 71 (2005) 069901] [astro-ph/0403694].
- S.M. Carroll and E.A. Lim, Lorentz-violating vector fields slow the universe down, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 123525 [hep-th/0407149].
- S.M. Carroll and J. Shu, Models of baryogenesis via spontaneous Lorentz violation, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 103515 [hep-ph/0510081].
- [20] H. Sato, Extremely high energy and violation of Lorentz invariance, astro-ph/0005218.
- [21] S.R. Coleman and S.L. Glashow, High-energy tests of Lorentz invariance, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 116008 [hep-ph/9812418].
- [22] G. Amelino-Camelia, J.R. Ellis, N.E. Mavromatos, D.V. Nanopoulos and S. Sarkar, Potential sensitivity of gamma-ray burster observations to wave dispersion in vacuo, Nature 393 (1998) 763 [astro-ph/9712103].
- [23] V.A. Kostelecky and S. Samuel, Spontaneous breaking of Lorentz symmetry in string theory, Phys. Rev. D 39 (1989) 683.
- [24] S. Kanno and J. Soda, Lorentz violating inflation, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 063505 [hep-th/0604192].
- B.M. Gripaios, Modified gravity via spontaneous symmetry breaking, JHEP 10 (2004) 069 [hep-th/0408127].
- [26] T. Jacobson and D. Mattingly, Gravity with a dynamical preferred frame, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 024028 [gr-qc/0007031].
- [27] D. Mattingly, Modern tests of Lorentz invariance, Living Rev. Rel. 8 (2005) 5 [gr-qc/0502097].
- [28] C. Eling and T. Jacobson, Static post-newtonian equivalence of gr and gravity with a dynamical preferred frame, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 064005 [gr-qc/0310044].
- [29] M.L. Graesser, A. Jenkins and M.B. Wise, Spontaneous Lorentz violation and the long-range gravitational preferred-frame effect, Phys. Lett. B 613 (2005) 5 [hep-th/0501223].
- [30] E.A. Lim, Can we see Lorentz-violating vector fields in the CMB?, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 063504 [astro-ph/0407437].
- [31] B.Z. Foster and T. Jacobson, Post-newtonian parameters and constraints on Einstein- aether theory, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 064015 [gr-qc/0509083].
- [32] B.Z. Foster, Radiation damping in Einstein-aether theory, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 104012
 [Erratum ibid. D 75 (2007) 129904] [gr-qc/0602004].
- [33] P.J. Steinhardt, L.-M. Wang and I. Zlatev, Cosmological tracking solutions, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 123504 [astro-ph/9812313].
- [34] I. Zlatev and P.J. Steinhardt, A tracker solution to the cold dark matter cosmic coincidence problem, Phys. Lett. B 459 (1999) 570 [astro-ph/9906481].

- [35] J.D. Barrow, Graduated inflationary universes, Phys. Lett. B 235 (1990) 40.
- [36] P. Binetruy, Models of dynamical supersymmetry breaking and quintessence, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 063502 [hep-ph/9810553];
 P. Brax and J. Martin, The robustness of quintessence, Phys. Rev. D 61 (2000) 103502 [astro-ph/9912046].
- [37] A. Balbi, C. Baccigalupi, S. Matarrese, F. Perrotta and N. Vittorio, Implications on quintessence models from MAXIMA-1 and BOOMERANG-98, Astrophys. J. 547 (2001) L89 [astro-ph/0009432].
- [38] Arianto and Freddy P. Zen, in preparation.